CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

January 19, 2011

Mr. Mark J. Gross

Plant Manager

ALCOA Badin Works

293 NC Highway 740

Post Office Box 576

Badin, North Carolina 28009

RE:
Notice of Intent to Sue for Violations of the Clean Water Act

Dear Mr. Gross,
This letter serves as a 60 day notice on behalf of the Yadkin Riverkeeper (“Riverkeeper”) of its intent to sue Aluminum Company of America (“ALCOA”) as owner and operator of the facility located at or near 293 NC Highway 740, Badin, NC 28009 (“Badin Works Facility”) pursuant to Section 505 of the Federal Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et. seq.  Specifically, this letter gives notice of intent to seek redress for the ongoing unlawful discharge of excess levels of cyanide, fluoride, and polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBs”) into Badin Lake by the ALCOA Badin Works facility.  

In addition to providing you with sixty days notice of our intent to sue on numerous CWA violations, this letter also serves as notice to relevant permitting authorities of these continuing violations with the intent that such permitting authority may alternatively bring an action against ALCOA for these violations.  If sufficient action has not been taken to address these violations or if ALCOA has not acted to bring their operations into compliance with the CWA requirements, Yadkin Riverkeeper may be forced to file a citizen’s suit at some point following the expiration of the sixty day period.  

The CWA prohibits the discharge of pollutants from a point source into waters of the United States, except pursuant to and in compliance with a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit.  33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1342, 1362(14).  CWA Section 505(a) authorizes any citizen to commence a civil action “against any person … who is alleged to be in violation of (A) an effluent standard or limitation under this chapter or (B) an order issued by the Administrator or State with respect to such a standard or limitation.” 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (a)(1).  

ALCOA owns and operates the ALCOA Badin Works facility, which is subject to NPDES Permit No. NC0004308.  Information currently available to the Riverkeeper indicates that over the previous three years, and continuing through the date of this notice, ALCOA has emitted pollutants in levels exceeding those allowed by NPDES permit NC0004308 in violation of the CWA.
 These unpermitted discharges constitute an ongoing violation of the CWA.  To date, the Riverkeeper has found no information indicating that the North Carolina Department of Environment and Natural Resources (NC DENR) has assessed fines against ALCOA or otherwise initiated enforcement action sufficient to bring ALCOA back into compliance. 
Each day of discharge violating the terms of the permit comprises a series of separate violations of the CWA, with a discrete violation for each pollutant illegally discharged.  As noted in 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), violators are subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $27,500 for each such violation.  If this discharge is found to be a “negligent” or "knowing" violation, responsible parties may be subject to criminal penalties and enforcement pursuant to 33 U.S.C. §1319(c).
I. Background 

The Badin Works facility was a primary aluminum smelter located on Badin Lake in Badin, North Carolina. ALCOA produced aluminum at the facility from 1917 to 2007. The facility has since been shut down, with the intent of resuming aluminum production sometime in the future. This manufacturing process involves a number of highly toxic chemicals, including cyanide, fluoride, and PCBs. A 2001 RCRA study revealed that some of the land on the site is contaminated with these chemicals.
 In 1995 DENR issued ALCOA an NPDES permit for the discharge of these chemicals. The permit set limits as to the concentration of each chemical that could be contained in the discharged water, and set monitoring requirements to ensure compliance with these limits. ALCOA has violated the provisions of its NPDES permit numerous times since 1995.
 In addition, subsequent iterations of the permit since 1995 have seen a steady and significant pattern of relaxation by the Division of Water Quality (DWQ) of the permit standards imposed on ALCOA while at the same time, the facility has ceased production of aluminum.

Cyanide is a highly toxic chemical, the exposure to which has the potential to cause grave environmental and human health effects. High exposure in humans affects the brain and heart, and may cause convulsions, low blood pressure, slow heart rate, loss of consciousness, lung injury, respiratory failure,
 coma, or death. 
 Low exposure may cause breathing difficulties, heart pains, vomiting, blood changes, headaches, enlargement of the thyroid gland,
 rapid breathing and heart rate, restlessness, dizziness, and weakness.
 In fish, high exposure to cyanide is potentially lethal, while lower exposure may lead to reduced reproductive capacity, impaired swimming ability, altered growth, and liver failure.
 High concentrations of cyanide may also prove phototoxic.

If ALCOA continues to violate the provisions of its permit discharges of cyanide into Badin Lake could cause significant health problems for those who use the lake. If DENR continues to relax the permit requirements which are not sufficiently stringent and fails to enforce the requirements that are in force, then DENR is failing to act as required by the terms of its delegation from U.S. EPA.  The lake, with an average water temperature of 84.4 degrees Fahrenheit in the summer, is a popular location for boating, swimming, fishing, hiking, and camping.
  Badin Lake has recently been added to the EPA’s list of impaired waters for fish consumption due to PCB contamination in fish.
  In the February 24th, 2010 EPA Review Comments for Badin Lake Documents “samples near Alcoa's outfalls indicate that Alcoa released PCBs into the SW Arm of Badin Lake at concentrations greater than Industrial Standards (0.057 mg/kg).”
 Impacts of cyanide discharges on Badin Lake aquatic life have not been evaluated by DENR, nor have the ecological impacts of PCB-contaminated sediments in Badin Lake.    
II. Permit Iterations and DENR Negotiations with ALCOA from 1995 – 2010

DENR issued ALCOA an NPDES permit in 1995. The permit was set to expire on August 30, 1999. In November 2000, after ALCOA filed for renewal of the permit, an environmental engineer in the Mooresville office of DENR drafted a report on the relicensing titled “Staff Report and Recommendations.” The report questioned whether there were any “groundwater concerns” or whether there was any “hazardous waste utilized at [the] facility that may impact water quality . . . or groundwater.” The author then asserted that “groundwater comments are unnecessary.”  

In August 2002, ALCOA proposed that monitoring frequency at six outfalls be reduced from weekly or monthly to quarterly or annually due to a curtailment of operations. In May 2003, DWQ made a tentative determination to reissue the NPDES permit and released a draft permit for public comment. ALCOA’s request for reduced monitoring was granted in the draft permit, which provided for alternate monitoring frequencies during periods of curtailed operations. Other notable changes in the draft were the removal of effluent limitations and monitoring requirements at Outfalls 014 and 016, addition of a new Outfall 021 with limits on cyanide discharge, addition of monitoring requirements for total cyanide at Outfall 005, addition of an effluent limitation for total cyanide and changes in monitoring requirements at Outfall 011, and a change in cyanide discharge limits for Outfall 013 from a daily maximum limit to weekly average limits. In addition, while Outfall 019 had no effluent limits, monitoring requirements and a re-opener clause were added to the permit. The clause would allow DWQ to impose effluent limits if monitoring suggested it was necessary. 

In May 2006 DWQ published a revised draft of the permit that addressed comments from both ALCOA and EPA Region 4. Notable changes included the deletion of the weekly average cyanide limit for Outfall 011, as well as a reduction in weekly average total cyanide limits for Outfalls 013 and 021 from 12.1 to 5.0 ug/l, based on EPA standards. The final permit was issued in September 2006. In the final draft, the cyanide limits for Outfall 013 were deleted. This change is notable, as the 1995 permit, as well as the two draft versions of the 2006 permit, had included successively stricter limits (12.1 to 5.0 ug/l), ALCOA had frequently violated the discharge limit of 12.1 ug/l from 1995 to 2000,
 and NPDES monitoring in 2004 reported the presence of cyanide.
 
In October 2006 ALCOA filed a petition for a Contested Case Hearing concerning the effluent standards in the permit. The company sought more lenient effluent limitations on a variety of pollutants from numerous outfalls. In February 2008 DWQ modified the permit in accordance with a Settlement Agreement reached with ALCOA. The 2008 permit is effective until February 2013. Notably, in the new version the reopener clause for Outfall 019 was deleted, even though, at this site, the seep of waste is not treated prior to discharge, and limited NPDES monitoring from 2004 reported the presence of cyanide.
 In addition, the newly added provisions for Outfall 021 were deleted in the new version. NPDES monitoring from 2004 reported that the seep at this site, which was not treated prior to discharge, contained significant concentrations of cyanide and fluoride and caused measurable increases in the in-stream concentrations of both pollutants.  
III. NPDES violations

The following chart details recorded instances of NPDES violations due to the discharge of cyanide in excess of permit limits. The violations arose under the specific iteration of the permit that was in place at the time of the discharge. While the compliance record appears to have improved over time, the improvement is in part due to relaxation of permit requirements over time.  As such, since the terms of the permit have changed over time, cyanide discharges which constituted violations under earlier versions will be in compliance under later versions of the permit with relaxed standards.  

	Violation Date
	Outfall
	Limit
	Calculated Value
	 % Over Limit
	Violation Type

	02/22/2010


	011
	46.6 ug/l
	170 ug/l
	264.81
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	05/20/2003


	012


	434 ug/l


	470 ug/l


	8.29


	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	04/25/1997


	012
	434 ug/l
	490 ug/l
	12.9
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	08/10/2000


	013


	22 ug/l
	24 ug/l


	9.09


	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	03/02/1999


	013
	22 ug/l
	24 ug/l
	9.09
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	05/29/1996


	013
	22 ug/l
	170 ug/l
	672.73
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	05/07/1996


	013
	22 ug/l
	37 ug/l
	68.18
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	04/17/1996


	013
	22 ug/l
	55 ug/l
	150
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	03/21/1996


	013
	22 ug/l
	27 ug/l
	22.73
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	03/05/1996


	013
	22 ug/l
	50 ug/l
	127.27
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	02/22/1996


	013
	22 ug/l
	45 ug/l
	104.55
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	02/07/1996
	013
	22 ug/l
	74 ug/l
	236.36
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	01/03/1996
	013
	22 ug/l
	27 ug/l
	22.73
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	12/19/1995
	013
	22 ug/l
	75 ug/l
	240.91
	Daily Maximum Exceeded

	12/05/1995


	013


	22 ug/l


	150 ug/l


	581.82


	Daily Maximum Exceeded


IV. Conclusion

During the sixty day notice period, we would be willing to discuss effective remedies for the violations noted in this letter. However, if you wish to pursue such negotiations in the absence of litigation, please contact us as soon as possible so that negotiations may be completed before the end of the sixty day period.

We believe this letter sufficiently places the ALCOA Badin Lake facility on notice and states grounds for a complaint to be filed in federal district court. We reserve our rights, however, to include in our complaint any other violations that have occurred or occur after the date of this letter. If you have any questions or wish to discuss the matter with us, please do not hesitate to contact me.
Sincerely,

Gayle Tuch

Attorney

Dean Najouks

Yadkin Riverkeeper

cc:

Lisa P. Jackson, Administrator

United States Environmental Protection Agency

401 M Street, SW

Washington, D.C. 20460 

Eric Holder, Attorney General

United States Department of Justice

10th Street & Constitution Ave., NW

Washington, D.C. 20530 

Gwendolyn Keyes Fleming, Regional Administrator

United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4

Sam Nunn Atlanta Federal Center
61 Forsyth Street, SW
Atlanta, GA 30303

Dee A. Freeman, Secretary

North Carolina Department of Environment and Natural Resource
1601 Mail Service Center, 

Raleigh, NC 27699-1601 

Mary Penny Thompson, General Counsel

North Carolina Department of Environment and Natural

1601 Mail Service Center

Raleigh, NC 27699-1601
� See Part III for a detailed discussion and chart of NPDES violations.


� RCRA Facility Investigation Report, Volume I of II, ALCOA Badin Works, Badin, North Carolina. Prepared by MFG, Inc., consulting scientists and engineers.


� See Part III for a chart of recorded violations by ALCOA.


� See Part II for a detailed discussion of the NPDES permit standards and their changes over time. 


� Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Facts About Cyanide, http://www.bt.cdc.gov/Agent/cyanide/basics/facts.asp. 


� Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, ToxFAQS for Cyanide, July 2006, http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxfaqs/tf.asp?id=71&tid=19. 


� Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, ToxFAQS for Cyanide, July 2006, http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxfaqs/tf.asp?id=71&tid=19. 


� Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Facts About Cyanide, http://www.bt.cdc.gov/Agent/cyanide/basics/facts.asp.


� U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Ecological Toxicity Information, http://www.epa.gov/R5Super/ecology/html/toxprofiles.htm#cy. 


� U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Ecological Toxicity Information, http://www.epa.gov/R5Super/ecology/html/toxprofiles.htm#cy.


� Badin Lake Campground, http://www.cs.unca.edu/nfsnc/recreation/uwharrie/badin_lake_campground.htm. 


� EPS Review Comments for Badin Lake Documents, Submitted for NCDENR and Alcoa, Alcoa-Badin Works, Badin, Stanly County, NC


� See Combined List, � HYPERLINK "http://portal.ncdenr.org/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=8ff0bb29-62c2-4b33-810c-2eee5afa75e9&groupId=38364" ��http://portal.ncdenr.org/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=8ff0bb29-62c2-4b33-810c-2eee5afa75e9&groupId=38364�.


� For detailed information on these violations, see chart in Part III


� NPDES fact sheet 2004


� NPDES  fact sheet 2004. Under the 2006 permit, monitoring for cyanide was required once a year.





